# THE MEDICARE PHYSICIAN QUALITY REPORTING INITIATIVE: IMPLICATIONS FOR RURAL PHYSICIANS

Final Report August 2010

Alycia Infante, MPA Michael Meit, MA, MPH Elizabeth Hargrave, MPAff



Funded by the Federal Office of Rural Health Policy www.ruralhealthresearch.org



4350 East West Highway, Suite 800 Bethesda, MD 20814 301-634-9324

This study was funded under a cooperative agreement with the Health Resources and Services Administration Office of Rural Health Policy (ORHP), DHHS, Grant Number 1U1CRH03715. The conclusions and opinions expressed in this report are the author's alone; no endorsement by NORC, ORHP, or other sources of information is intended or should be inferred.

The Walsh Center's mission is to conduct timely policy analyses and research that address the needs of government policy makers, clinicians, and the public on issues that affect health care and public health in rural America. The Walsh Center is part of the Public Health Research Department at NORC at the University of Chicago, and its offices are located in Bethesda, Maryland. The Center is named in honor of William B. Walsh, M.D., whose lifelong mission was to bring health care to under-served and hard-to-reach populations. For more information about the Walsh Center and its publications, please contact:

Michael Meit
The Walsh Center for Rural Health Analysis
NORC at the University of Chicago
4350 East West Highway, Suite 800
Bethesda, Maryland 20814
301-634-9324
301-634-9301 (fax)

http://walshcenter.norc.org

#### **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	5
I. Background on the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative	6
II. Review of Literature	8
III. Key Informant Interviews	15
Overview	15
Methodology	15
Findings	18
Overview of Primary Care Physicians' Participation in PQRI	18
Challenges Related to Participation in PQRI	19
Factors that Affect Rural Physicians' Participation in PQRI	22
Recommendations to Improve Participation in PQRI	28
IV. Study Conclusions	31

#### **Executive Summary**

Policy Background - In December 2006, President Bush signed the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 (TRHCA), which authorized the establishment of a physician quality reporting system by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), titled the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI). PQRI is a pay-for-reporting program (P4R), whereby physicians and other eligible professionals may receive an incentive payment for reporting on specific quality measures for their patients, though they need not demonstrate improvements in outcomes for those measures. P4R programs like PQRI test a provider's performance data capture and reporting processes, and may inform future pay-for-performance (P4P) initiatives. PQRI was designed with the following characteristics: (1) it is voluntary program; (2) physicians can select up to three measures that apply to them; and (3) the bonus is positive (e.g., currently, there is no other punitive component to the program). PQRI is CMS' first nationwide initiative that provides incentives to encourage reporting of quality data by physicians.

The Health Resources and Services Administration Office of Rural Health Policy funded the NORC Walsh Center for Rural Health Analysis to study the impact of rurality on primary care physicians' participation in the 2007 PQRI. To date, there remains considerable uncertainty about how to best design and implement P4P and P4R programs in rural communities. One of the key gaps in the P4P and P4R literature is the impact of rurality on physicians' participation in P4P and P4R programs.

**Purpose** - Given that the PQRI is the first attempt to bring P4R to physicians, we utilized PQRI as a proxy to explore the broader implications of P4P and P4R programs for primary care physicians. The objectives of this study were to:

- Explore the design and implementation of Medicare's PQRI, in order to identify the implications of the program for rural physicians, and
- Assess whether there are any unique opportunities or challenges related to participating in PQRI that would be systematically different for rural versus urban primary care physicians.

This report presents findings from: 1) a literature review; 2) interviews with representatives from medical societies about their memberships' experiences participating in PQRI; and 3) interviews with representatives from medical practices that participated in PQRI.

**Methods** - Semi-structured telephone interviews were conducted with representatives from five medical societies. Representatives from two additional medical societies provided written correspondence regarding our research questions. Also, in order to gather further information about the issues raised by medical society representatives, we conducted key informant interviews with representatives from four medical practices that participated in PQRI. This sample is small and not necessarily generalizable to providers across the country. There were several themes that emerged, however, even within this relatively small number of states and practices.

Specific areas of interest during the interviews were common questions that medical society representatives received from their memberships' regarding PQRI; perceptions of the design and implementation of PQRI and ease of participation; unique opportunities or challenges related to

participating in PQRI that would be systematically different for rural versus non-rural primary care physicians; and ways in which PQRI could be improved to facilitate participation by rural physicians.

#### Summary of Findings -

Primary care physicians' participation in PQRI

- The medical society representatives did not know how many of their members are participating in PQRI, and they knew little about the types of measures that their members were reporting through PQRI.
- Medical society representatives believed that few primary care physicians serving rural communities currently participate in PQRI.
- While none of the medical societies discourages its membership from participating in PQRI, only two out of seven medical societies encourage their members to participate in the program.
- Medical societies deliver information to their members via weekly newsletters, information on the society's website (e.g., live presentations, interactive seminars), webinars and calls, and a member hotline.

#### Challenges related to participation in PQRI

- Medical society representatives said that some of their members contacted them about the challenges that they encountered while participating in PQRI.
- Medical society representatives commented that members found the reporting process to be cumbersome, time-consuming, and difficult to understand.
- The lack of feedback on the reporting process from CMS was a key issue of concern for many respondents. In particular, medical practice representatives wanted additional information about which claims were considered unsuccessful reports to avoid making the same mistakes in the future.
- Respondents also expressed a desire for more feedback on their performance.

#### Factors that affect rural physicians' participation in PQRI

- Practice size and, in conjunction, the extent of the practice's quality measurement
  infrastructure and staff resources, were cited by several medical society representatives as
  being the most important factors in determining whether a physician will participate in
  PQRI.
- Practices with electronic medical records, patient registries, and data collection systems
  would have lower marginal costs for collecting and reporting data, and may have an easier
  time participating in PQRI.
- Very rural practices that also have high proportion of Medicare beneficiaries may be more likely to participate in PQRI.
- The 1.5% incentive payment was not viewed as a sufficient incentive to encourage practices to participate in PQRI. Some respondents commented that a higher incentive payment would encourage greater participation by physicians. Some were motivated by a concern that

- incentives would be stronger in the future including possibly penalties for not reporting and wanted to participate now so they would have their systems working well by that time.
- Given the increased staff time necessary to participate in PQRI, physicians who do not receive an incentive payment may not be willing to participate in PQRI during the next reporting year.

#### Recommendations to improve physicians' participation in PQRI

- A key recommendation was more education for medical practices about PQRI. In-person meetings are preferable to webinars on PQRI. Respondents who made this recommendation found that remote education opportunities did not provide them with enough information, and they would prefer a meeting where they could ask questions.
- Providers are also interested in learning why certain measures were selected for inclusion in the program, and how the measures were derived. Combined with increased feedback on how providers are performing on the measures, this information would increase the likelihood that providers might use the PQRI process to improve quality, rather than simply seeking reimbursement for reporting the data.
- Representatives from medical societies and medical practices recommended a simplified reporting process.

Conclusions - Rural practices may be at a disadvantage with respect to participating in PQRI, but the challenges they face are not exclusively related to their geographic location. Primary care physicians' practice size, infrastructure, staff resources, and case mix were identified as factors that could present either challenges or opportunities related to participation – regardless of the geographic location of the practice. In as much as practice rurality is associated with these factors, rural practices – which tend to be smaller and have fewer resources and a less developed quality measurement infrastructure – may face greater challenges to participating in PQRI than their non-rural counterparts.

The size of the incentive payment or reward may also affect whether primary care physicians participate in PQRI. Overall, the 2007 PQRI's 1.5% incentive payment was not viewed as a sufficient incentive to encourage practices to participate in PQRI. Respondents participating in PQRI required additional resources and staff time to learn how to report their data, and for some, the incentive was not worth the investment.

Respondents provided a number of recommendations to improve physicians' participation in PQRI. Disseminating information to providers through state medical societies was cited as one way to educate participating professionals about PQRI. Additionally, respondents noted that more individualized feedback about the reporting process is essential for PQRI participants. In as much as rural primary care physicians are at a disadvantage with respect to participating in PQRI, they may not participate in PQRI again if they do not receive an incentive payment and adequate feedback the first time. Further research should investigate the results of the PQRI program for rural physicians, specifically.

Future studies should utilize CMS' PQRI data to describe the reporting characteristics of primary care physicians who practice in rural and urban areas. Quantitative analyses of PQRI data could be conducted over the program's history to explore whether there are rural-urban differences in primary care physicians' participation in PQRI, reporting rates, types of measures reported, average number of measures reported, and average incentive amount received. Findings from a more detailed analysis of rural primary care physicians' experiences in PQRI would be helpful in quantifying rural providers' participation in PQRI. Such research could inform the design and implementation of future CMS P4P and P4R programs, and potentially help to mitigate unintended program consequences for rural providers.

After this study was conducted, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care of Act of 2010 made several important changes to PQRI. The legislation extends the program from 2010 until 2014, and includes a punitive component for non-compliant providers. The legislation also mandates the development of a feedback process for providers as well as the coordination of PQRI and the electronic health record (EHR) incentive program established by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act. The HITECH Act provides incentive payments to providers who demonstrate meaningful use of EHRs. Finally, in 2014, physicians who do not submit measures to PQRI will have their Medicare payments reduced. Further research is necessary to assess rural physicians' experiences in light of these changes.

#### Introduction

The Health Resources and Services Administration's Office of Rural Health Policy funded the NORC Walsh Center for Rural Health Analysis to study the impact of rurality on office-based physicians' participation in the 2007 Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI), a voluntary payfor-reporting program in Medicare. PQRI offers a financial incentive to physicians and other eligible professionals who successfully report quality measures related to services provided under the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule.

This study stems from a body of literature on pay-for-performance (P4P) programs across the United States since the Institute of Medicine released its 2001 report, Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century, which highlighted the importance of realigning incentives to improve health care quality. P4P programs are designed to better align payment with quality of care by incentivizing providers to meet or exceed quality targets for specific measures. In quality reporting, or pay-for-reporting (P4R) programs, physicians may receive a reward for reporting on specific quality measures for a percentage of their patients, though they need not demonstrate improvements in outcomes for those measures. P4R programs test a provider's performance data capture and reporting processes, and may inform future P4P initiatives. Research has explored different types of P4P and P4R programs in order to better understand the impact of these programs on quality of care and provider behavior. However, there remains considerable uncertainty about how to best design and implement P4P and P4R programs in rural communities. One of the key gaps in the P4P and P4R literature is the impact of rurality on primary care physicians' participation in P4P and P4R programs.

Given that PQRI is the first attempt to bring P4R to physicians, we utilize PQRI as a model to explore the implications of P4P and P4R programs for rural primary care physicians. The objectives of this study were to: 1) explore the design and implementation of Medicare's PQRI, in order to identify the implications of the program for rural physicians, and 2) assess whether there are any unique opportunities or challenges related to participating in PQRI that would be systematically different for rural versus urban primary care physicians. This research was comprised of three phases: 1) a literature review; 2) key informant interviews with representatives from medical societies about their memberships' experiences participating in PQRI; and 3) interviews with representatives from medical practices that participated in PQRI.

This report is organized around four major sections. In Section I, we present background on the PQRI. In Section II, we provide a review of the current literature on rural physicians' experiences in P4P and P4R programs, focusing on whether they face unique challenges or opportunities participating in these programs relative to their urban counterparts. Section III presents findings from the interviews with medical society professionals and representatives from medical practices, describing their attitudes and experiences related to PQRI and the challenges rural physicians face. Finally, Section IV presents the study's conclusions.

#### I. Background on the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative

In December 2006, President Bush signed the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 (TRHCA).<sup>4</sup> Section 101 under Title I authorizes the establishment of a physician quality reporting system by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), titled the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI). PQRI is a voluntary pay-for-reporting (P4R) program that provides a financial incentive to physicians and other eligible professionals who successfully report quality data related to covered services provided under the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule. PQRI emerged from the efforts of Senator Max Baucus (D-Montana) through his work on the Value-Based Purchasing Act, which focuses on pay-for-performance (P4P) for every major Medicare system. PQRI is CMS' first nationwide initiative that provides incentives to encourage reporting of quality data by physicians.

PQRI was designed with the following characteristics: (1) it is voluntary program; (2) physicians can select up to three measures that apply to them; and (3) the bonus is positive (e.g., currently, there is no other punitive component to the program). According to CMS, participating in PQRI is a way to prepare for future pay-for-performance programs.<sup>5</sup>

As part of the 2007 PQRI, physicians who successfully reported a set of quality measures on claims for dates of service from July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007, could earn a bonus payment, subject to a cap, of 1.5% of total allowed charges for covered Medicare Physician Fee Schedule services.

In order to receive the PQRI incentive payment, eligible professionals must satisfactorily report data on at least three measures for at least 80 percent of the cases in which the measure was applicable. In 2007, eligible professionals chose from 74 quality measures. To report, eligible professionals use either paper-based or electronic claims. CMS issues bonuses as one lump sum payment to the holder of the tax ID. In 2007, information on individual providers or groups was not publicly reported. For the 2007 reporting period, the incentive payments were sent to physicians in July 2008.

According to CMS, 109,349 professionals and practices submitted measures as part of the 2007 PQRI – 16% of eligible professionals.<sup>7</sup> A total of 56,772 (52%) were eligible professionals who satisfactorily reported and were eligible to receive the incentive payment. In 2007, the average incentive for an individual eligible professional was \$630. The average incentive for a physician group practice was \$4,713.<sup>8</sup> There is no information available on how many eligible professionals were providing care in rural settings, or whether the amount of the incentive payments differed, on average, for rural versus urban professionals. CMS summary data from the 2008 and 2009 PQRI reporting periods are not yet available.

On March 23, 2010, President Obama signed the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) into law, which modified the PQRI program in several ways. PPACA extended the PQRI program from 2010 to 2014. The legislation mandates the creation of a timely feedback process for providers that did not satisfactorily submit data on quality measures. The legislation also establishes a mechanism whereby an eligible provider may provide data on quality measures by completing a Maintenance of Certification program operated by a specialty body of the American Board of Medical Specialties.

PPACA also requires the coordination of PQRI and electronic health records (EHR) quality reporting efforts by January 1, 2012. Specifically, the legislation mandates the integration of the PQRI and the EHR incentive program established by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act. The HITECH Act provides incentive payments to providers who demonstrate meaningful use of EHRs. Integration must consist of the selection of measures that demonstrate both meaningful use of EHRs and patient quality of care under PQRI. CMS solicited public comment on ways to coordinate the PQRI and EHR incentive programs, and is expected to release a final report soon.

Finally, in 2014, physicians who do not submit measures to PQRI will have their Medicare payments reduced.

#### II. Review of Literature

Research has explored different types of P4P and P4R programs in order to better understand the impact of these programs on quality of care and provider behavior. However, there remains considerable uncertainty about how to best design and implement these programs. To date, many performance improvement initiatives have focused on large health care entities, such as hospitals, which have internal resources that can be used to participate in P4P quality initiatives. One of the key gaps in the P4P and P4R literature is the impact of rurality on physicians' participation in P4P and P4R programs.

Some research has found that rural hospitals face unique challenges to participating in performance improvement initiatives, and that P4P programs must be designed to be relevant for small hospitals. For example, Greg, Moscovice and Remus (2006) found that because rural hospitals have limited access to capital, it is more difficult for them to adopt information technologies and infrastructure that support performance improvement efforts. Further, the lack of infrastructure and limited staffing resources in rural hospitals makes it challenging to provide clear and adequate feedback for physicians and nurses participating in P4P programs. No systematic literature to date has explored the impact of rurality on primary care physicians' participation in P4P and P4R programs.

This review of literature explores rural physicians' experiences in P4P and P4R programs, and specifically analyzes whether they face unique challenges or opportunities participating in these programs relative to their urban counterparts.

#### Quality Programs in Physician Offices

Researchers have continued to study different types of P4P and P4R programs in a variety of settings – including the physician office setting – in order to better understand the impacts of these programs on quality of care and provider behavior. <sup>12</sup> In P4P programs, physicians may receive an annual "bonus" for meeting certain quality goals or targets. Depending on the program, physicians may *not* receive a certain percentage of their salary or bonus if they do not meet quality targets or requirements. <sup>13</sup> In P4R initiatives, where participating is often voluntary in nature, physicians receive an incentive payment for reporting on specific quality measures for a percentage of their patients, though they need not demonstrate performance improvements in outcomes.

There are currently hundreds of programs operating in the U.S., and many more under development. There remains considerable uncertainty about how to best design and implement these programs – and whether they are actually effective in improving health care quality. Overall, few studies have evaluated the effectiveness of P4P and quality reporting initiatives. A 2004 review of literature of 5,054 publications found no ongoing randomized controlled trials of P4P. Observational studies have yielded mixed conclusions on the overall impact of these programs on provider behavior and patient care. Few P4P and P4R programs have been implemented in physician offices, and no systematic research has explored the prevalence of P4R programs in primary care practices.

#### A Growing Federal Role in Physician Quality

The federal government has developed and implemented several P4P and P4R programs targeted at physicians to align payment and non-financial incentives with higher quality. The Four P4P demonstration projects that focus on physicians are: the Medicare Physician Group Practice Demonstration; the Medicare Care Management Performance Demonstration; the Medicare Health Care Quality Demonstration; and the Voluntary Chronic Care Improvement Program. CMS has also developed three P4R programs targeting physicians: the Physician Voluntary Reporting Program (PVRP), is successor, the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI), and the E-Prescribing Incentive Program.

Table 1 provides an overview of past and current P4P and P4R programs that target physicians, as well as details about each program. Table 1 also demonstrates that physicians have had limited opportunities to participate in P4P and P4R programs. No research to date has explored the impact of physicians' rurality on their participation in these programs.

#### Quality Programs in Rural Physician Settings

The Institute of Medicine (IOM) and health care researchers have raised concerns about the applicability of current P4P programs to rural providers. In 2006, the IOM highlighted the need to ensure that performance improvement programs reflect the unique characteristics of rural providers. Specifically, differences in the availability of providers, the availability of transportation, the selection of clinical domains for quality improvement, and the health status of the population are issues that need to be considered when designing a P4P program. Another report by the Minnesota Department of Health's Rural Health Advisory Committee explored health care reform for Minnesotans, and recommended the development of rural relevant evidence-based measures for P4P strategies.<sup>21</sup>

While no research to date has explored the implications of P4P or P4R programs for rural primary care physicians, in particular, some work has explored the implications of value-based purchasing programs for critical access hospitals (CAHs). In January 2009, the Rural Policy Research Institute Health Panel released a report that recommended that CMS should actively pursue value-based purchasing (also known as P4P) policies that include CAHs. The report explored the unique characteristics of CAHs and the implications of value-based purchasing in CAHs, concluding that value-based purchasing policies should carefully consider potential unintended program consequences for rural communities. Pecifically, given that CAHs may have less access to quality improvement resources and health information technology than their larger urban counterparts, value-based purchasing programs should also offer assistance to build necessary quality improvement structure in CAHs.

Table 1: Quality Programs Targeting Physicians

Program	Initiation Information	P4P or P4R	Goals	Participants	Type of Participation	Incentive
Medicare Physician Group Practice Demonstration <sup>23</sup>	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service (CMS) through a legislative mandate, 2005	P4P	Encourage coordination of health care for Medicare fee-for-service (FFS) beneficiaries and reward physicians for improving processes and outcomes.	10 large group practices, composed of over 5,000 providers	Voluntary	Yes
Medicare Care Management Performance Demonstration <sup>24</sup>	Section 646 of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act (MMA) of 2003	P4P, P4R	Improve the quality of care for chronically ill Medicare beneficiaries and foster the adoption and use of health information technology.	Physicians in solo or small to medium-sized practices (10 or fewer physicians) focused on primary care	Voluntary	Yes
Medicare Health Care Quality Demonstration Program <sup>25</sup>	Section 646, MMA 2003	P4P	Improve patient safety; reduce variations in utilization, using culturally and ethnically appropriate care. An extension of the Medicare Physician Group Practice Demonstration.	Physician groups, integrated health systems, regional coalitions.	Voluntary	N/A; must be budget neutral.
Voluntary Chronic Care Improvement Program <sup>26</sup>	Section 721, MMA 2003	P4P	Help fee-for-service beneficiaries to manage their care and provide physicians with technical support to manage care.	Includes physician group practices	Voluntary	N/A**
Physician Voluntary Reporting Program (PVRP) <sup>27</sup>	CMS	P4R	Capture data about the quality of care provided to Medicare beneficiaries to identify best practices in using quality measures in practice.	Physicians and other providers who bill Medicare	Voluntary	No
Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI) <sup>28</sup>	Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006	P4R	Link quality reporting to physician-level financial incentives.	Physicians, physician assistants, and others who bill Medicare	Voluntary	Yes
E-Prescribing (eRx) Incentive Program <sup>29</sup>	Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008, Section 132	P4R	Establish a Medicare eRx incentive program for eligible professionals to report on adoption and use of a qualified eRx system by submitting information on one eRx measure.	Individual physicians, group practices*	Voluntary	Yes

<sup>\*</sup>Eligible professionals do not need to participate in PQRI to participate in the eRx Incentive Program.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Participating organizations must meet performance standards and are required to refund fees that CMS paid them if the fees exceed the estimated savings.

No research to date has validated that rural primary care physicians face unique challenges with respect to participating in P4P or P4R programs in comparison to their non-rural counterparts. However, research has explored the implementation of quality programs in small office practices. Given that solo or small office practitioners face similar challenges to rural physicians (geographic and financial barriers, and a lack of resources and infrastructure), we will treat the former as a proxy for the latter. Next, we present a body of literature that reveals that small office physicians – and by extension, rural physicians – face significant barriers to participating in quality programs. We also review literature that suggests that small and rural physicians will require more explicit financial incentives to participate in such programs, given the challenges they face.

#### Resource Shortages

Literature suggests that smaller physician practices may face distinct challenges with respect to participating in performance measurement initiatives. Locke and Srinivasan (2008) note that solo practitioners or those who practice in small group practice settings may not have the internal resources that are critical to documenting outcome improvements for P4P initiatives.<sup>30</sup> For example, small office practices tend to have fewer staff that can contribute to data collection, verification, and reporting of performance measures. Landon and Normand (2008) found that small office practices lack needed infrastructure – both technological, structural, and human resources – to support data collection for performance measurement.<sup>31</sup>

#### Health Information Technology

Perhaps the most literature exists on the challenges of implementing electronic medical records (EMRs) in small and rural practices. While EMRs are not a requirement to participate in many P4P and P4R programs, the technology helps physicians to track and report patient codes more easily, and in the future, EMRs may be used to transmit quality data directly to CMS.<sup>32</sup> The National Center for Health Statistics found that only 25% of office-based physicians reported using full or partial EMR systems in 2005.<sup>33</sup> Rural physicians are significantly less likely to routinely use an EHR system,<sup>34</sup> and rural physician offices typically lag behind in the adoption of information technology (IT).<sup>35,36,37</sup>

Casalino et al. (2003) highlights that small and large physician practices have different economies of scale in terms of IT. By conducting an assessment of large medical group practices through qualitative interviews with leaders of larger groups, hospitals, and health insurance plans, Casolino et al. found that only large group practices – as opposed to small or solo physician practices – are able to develop organized processes to improve quality. Small or solo physician practices may not have existing processes in place that can be easily leveraged to facilitate data collection for performance measurement. Small rural providers are less likely to have their own information systems for measuring and improving quality than larger providers. Additionally, they often have fewer resources to dedicate to quality improvement.

Landon and Normand (2008) discuss the challenges related to performance measurement in small office practices – noting that physicians in small office practices should seek health IT products that can automate performance data collection and facilitate the development of chronic disease patient registries. Stinson (2007) notes that small office practices may not be able to afford to implement

technologies that would allow them to participate in P4P and P4R programs – though small practices could most benefit from such programs and their incentives.<sup>40</sup>

Additionally, the Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (2001) noted that small rural providers often lack the staffing resources necessary for quality improvement. A lack of staff dedicated to quality improvement work combined with a lack of infrastructure in small rural practices means that collecting quality data is more time consuming.<sup>41</sup>

#### Case Mix

Research has explored whether P4P programs adequately adjust payments to reflect the type or mix of patients treated within a medical practice. However, no research was available on whether case mix is an important factor affecting participating in P4R programs, specifically. Hood (2007) reported that P4P programs must be cognizant of the impact of case mix:

"Pay-for-performance programs that do not consider specific health disparities risk variables such as socioeconomic status, geographic location, race, ethnicity and level of disease burdens can create the real potential to economically penalize and cause unintended disincentives for individual physicians, medical groups and health institutions that have traditionally provided health services for these high-risk populations. These inequities will further worsen quality of care in high-risk populations and worsen health-care disparities."

Physicians may exclude patients from their practices who are known to be at a high risk for adverse health outcomes in their effort to reach performance levels that will result in an incentive payment. Casalino et al. (2007) warns that health disparities can be exacerbated through P4P programs if rewards inadvertently reduce incomes for providers in low-income minority communities. In a national survey of general internists, Casalino et al. reported that approximately 82% of internists said they would avoid high-risk patients if it would affect their pay. Almost 60% of internists said that would divert their attention away from unrewarded quality measures and teach to the test.<sup>43</sup>

In addition, physicians who provide care to a large proportion of high risk patients may receive lower ratings on quality measures than other physicians in P4P programs. For example, rural physicians' case mix typically includes a larger proportion of Medicare and Medicaid patients – who may require complex disease and care management strategies – than that of their urban counterparts. In 2006, rural physicians' received 56 percent of their revenue from Medicare and Medicaid compared with 45 percent for urban practices. As a result, it may be more difficult for rural physicians to demonstrate significant improvements on quality measures for the Medicare population, comprised of a large number of chronically ill patients, and the Medicaid population, comprised of individuals who are typically lower-income, less-educated, and sicker than the privately insured population. Similarly, physicians who practice in communities that have poor health behavior may also be at a disadvantage in P4P programs. Risk adjustment measures have been developed to correct this problem and capture the severity of illness of patients.

In *Pay for Performance: A Decision Guide for Purchasers*, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services noted that providers who treat high risk populations (e.g., low income, low educational attainment, low literacy) may be disadvantaged by a one size fits all approach to P4P.<sup>49</sup> AHRQ suggested that P4P programs could be tailored for subsets of providers, such as safety-net hospitals.<sup>50</sup> AHRQ suggested that purchasers could set lower performance standards for small practices or rural providers – such as rewarding small or rural providers for giving 80 percent of their patients beta-blockers after a heart attack, though urban hospitals would be required to achieve 90 percent adherence to receive a bonus.<sup>51</sup>

#### Financial Incentives

Whereas small changes in payment can be expected to drive changes in behavior for institutional providers, it is uncertain whether small changes in payment will affect physician behavior comparably.<sup>52</sup> Currently, there is no consensus on the appropriate size of a financial reward to incentivize physicians to participate in P4P programs. Studies suggest that successful expansion of P4P and P4R programs from large multi-specialty groups to solo and small group practices will require more explicit financial incentives.

Stinson (2008) suggests that the 1.5% reimbursement rate offers too small of a return on investment for small office practices to make the process and technology changes to participate in PQRI.<sup>53</sup> *Bridges to Excellence* found that the incentive should be at least \$5,000 per physician to motivate structural change. Other research suggests that physician practices may require a bonus of 10% to 25% to change behavior – larger than the typical 3% bonus offered by a health plan in a P4P arrangement. <sup>54,55</sup>

The Rural Policy Research Institute Health Panel (2009) noted that financial incentives "will not be enough to ensure that all rural providers have the opportunity and adequate resources to improve clinical quality." The Panel notes that value-based purchasing or P4P programs must align with existing programs to provide resources and quality improvement technical assistance to participating rural providers.

Other literature suggests that bonus or incentive payments be tailored to certain types of providers – given that the cost of improving care will be greater for some than others. Reece (2008) noted that physician practices, in particular, face distinct challenges which make it more difficult to participate in P4P programs, and thus, should receive financial rewards that reflect these challenges. Furthermore, Cannon (2006) noted that a physicians' response to a financial incentive will depend on the net – rather than absolute – value of the incentive after accounting for the costs associated with program compliance. <sup>58</sup>

#### Summary

Participating in P4P and quality reporting programs may be challenging for rural primary care physicians for several reasons: rural practices tend to be small or medium-sized practices or solo practitioners, and have rudimentary or no information system infrastructure, and limited staff and other resources. The literature reveals that the size of the physician's practice, and the population served, may impact their ability or willingness to participate in performance measurement initiatives. The size of the incentive payment or reward may also determine whether a small or rural provider is

able to participate in the quality program. Other researchers suggest that financial incentives are not enough to ensure that all rural providers can participate in P4P initiatives, and quality improvement technical assistance is needed.

To attract physicians practicing in small offices, and potentially in rural settings, P4P and P4R programs must be designed in a manner that does not penalize physician practices that lack certain technological and structural resources. Future physician performance measurement initiatives should incorporate features that facilitate the inclusion of physicians practicing in small offices.<sup>59</sup>

While we can extrapolate relevant findings from small and solo practices, further research is necessary to understand the impact of P4P and P4R programs on rural physicians, specifically.

#### III. Key Informant Interviews

#### Overview

The purpose of the key informant interviews was to obtain a variety of perspectives on the implications of the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI) for rural primary care physicians, with a focus on whether rural physicians face unique challenges to participating in P4R programs like PQRI in comparison to their non-rural counterparts. NORC conducted interviews with medical society representatives and representatives from medical practices that participated in PQRI. Interviews were conducted between October 2008 and January 2009. The key topics addressed during the interviews were:

- Factors that affect rural primary care physicians' decisions to participate in PQRI;
- Challenges or opportunities related to participating in P4P or P4R programs that would be systematically different or challenging for rural versus non-rural primary care physicians;
- The impact a practice's case mix on participation;
- The implications of P4P and P4R for rural primary care physicians;
- Commonly asked questions from physicians who participated in PQRI; and
- Recommendations to improve participation in PQRI.

#### Methodology

In this section, we present the methodology of the study. We also discuss the characteristics of the respondents who participated in the key informant interviews. Finally, we discuss study limitations.

#### Study Design

To explore the design and implementation of PQRI, and how rural physicians might be affected by P4R programs such as PQRI, NORC conducted a series of semi-structured interviews with representatives from state medical societies and medical practices that participated in PQRI. Key informant interviews were conducted via telephone between October 2008 and January 2009.

The findings for this study are based on information from a total of ten respondents representing seven states.<sup>1</sup> Semi-structured telephone interviews were conducted with five medical society representatives. NORC also received written correspondence regarding our research questions from two additional medical society representatives. In order to build upon the findings from our interviews with medical society representatives, we also conducted interviews with four representatives from medical practices that participated in PQRI.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NORC contacted medical societies in eight states. Representatives from seven of the eight medical societies responded to our research questions. Telephone interviews were conducted with representatives from five medical societies (one of which was also a provider in a PQRI-participating physician medical practice). Representatives from two medical societies provided feedback on our research questions, though they did not participate in an interview. One medical society representative chose not to participate.

NORC developed interview protocols informed by the literature review and initial discussions with PQRI experts. The protocols were designed to glean common themes, provide insight into the implications of rurality on participation in this program, and identify any unique challenges or opportunities related to participating in PQRI for rural physicians. The protocols were reviewed and approved by NORC's Institutional Review Board.

#### Selection of States

NORC selected eight states from which we drew two types of study participants: 1) representatives from medical society representatives; and 2) representatives from medical practices who participated in PQRI. NORC was interested in selecting both "rural" and "urban" states. We calculated the percent of each state's population residing in rural areas using U.S. Census 2000 data, and then listed the states in descending order of percent rural. States in the 1<sup>st</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> quartiles were selected as "most rural" and "least rural," respectively.

We were also interested in selecting states that are considered to be "high reporting" states – meaning that they have a large percentage of eligible providers who participated in the 2007 PQRI program by submitting quality data – as well as states that are considered to be "low reporting" states. NORC classified states as "high reporting" and "low reporting" based on preliminary 2007 CMS data accessed on our behalf by PQRI experts from the Senate Finance Committee. Of the most rural states, we selected two that were "high reporting" (Vermont, North Dakota), and two that were "low reporting" (Arkansas, Montana). Of the most urban states, we selected two that were "high reporting" (Florida, Illinois), and two that were "low reporting" (Hawaii, New York). We recruited medical society and practice representatives in the selected states. Table 2 displays the characteristics of the selected states.

**Table 2: Characteristics of Selected States** 

	Rura	Participation in PQRI	
State Selected for Interview <sup>a</sup>	% State Population that is Rural <sup>b</sup>	Designated as Rural or Urban	Designated as High or Low Reporting State
Montana	46%	Rural	Low
Arkansas	47.6%	Rural	Low
Vermont	61.8%	Rural	High
North Dakota	44.2%	Rural	High
Illinois	12.2%	Urban	High
Florida	10.7%	Urban	High
Hawaii	8.4%	Urban	Low
New York	12.5%	Urban	Low

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Study findings are based on responses from ten individuals in seven of the eight selected states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Based on the percentage of the state's population that is rural from the Census 2000, U.S. Census Bureau.

#### Selection of Medical Society Representatives

NORC attempted to recruit a representative from each of the eight states' medical societies to participate in a key informant telephone interview. We used publicly available information to contact the medical societies, sending them a letter via email about the purpose of the study and our interest in scheduling an interview. We followed up with the representatives via telephone and email to schedule the interviews. In total, representatives from seven of the eight state medical societies responded to our research questions. Telephone interviews were conducted with representatives from five state medical societies (one of which was also a provider in a PQRI-participating physician medical practice). Representatives from two state medical societies provided feedback on our research questions, though they did not participate in an interview. One state medical society representative chose not to participate.

#### Selection of Medical Practice Representatives

Data are not publicly available on the medical practices that participate in PQRI. NORC established a recruitment strategy for identifying primary care practices that participated in PQRI in the eight states. During the interviews with medical society representatives, we asked respondents to provide us with contact information for primary care physicians in their state that were likely participants in PQRI. We planned to use the contact information provided by the medical society representatives to develop a convenience sample of representatives from medical practices. Of the seven medical society representatives that participated in our study, only one provided contacted information for a medical practice that participated in PQRI – and this contact did not lead to an interview. One of the medical society representatives was a PQRI participating provider, and provided feedback from this perspective. The other five respondents were not able to suggest any medical practices to contact.

NORC also contacted a variety of organizations about the study, and asked whether they knew of medical practices that participated in PQRI and might be willing to participate in an interview. Specifically, NORC contacted the state offices of rural health in several states, the county medical society offices in one state, primary care associations, a medical school, and other rural stakeholders. The majority of the individuals did respond to our inquiry, but were unable to assist because they did not know of any primary care physicians participating in PQRI. Despite more than a dozen contacts with individuals working on health care in these states, we were only able to secure interviews with representatives from four medical practices in four states that participated in PQRI. The medical practices were from both rural and urban states and all classified as "low reporting."

#### Study Limitations

Study findings are based on responses from ten individuals in seven states; their perspectives may not reflect more broadly held views about PQRI – nor do they necessarily reflect the views of medical society representatives from other states. Likewise, our limited interviews with medical practice representatives may not reflect the views of other practices that participate in PQRI. However, we did find some strikingly common themes among the limited number of respondents.

It was our intention to focus on primary care physicians' experiences participating in PQRI. However, the feedback from medical society representatives may have related to other types of providers as well. It is unclear whether there are systematic differences between primary care and specialty practices that would lead this broader feedback to be less representative of primary care. Additionally, while respondents were asked to reflect on their experiences with the 2007 PQRI, it is possible that they commented on their experiences with PQRI in subsequent years.

This study was conducted prior to the changes to PQRI mandated through the Patient Protection and Affordable Care of Act of 2010. The legislation extends PQRI from 2010 until 2014, and includes a punitive component for non-compliant providers. The legislation also mandates the development of a feedback process for providers and a plan to coordinate the PQRI and EHR incentive programs. Further research is necessary to assess rural physicians' experiences in light of these programmatic changes.

Finally, self-selection bias is a potential limitation of this study. Respondents' decisions to participate may have been a result of their strong opinions about PQRI generally or on the implications of PQRI for rural physicians. It is possible that respondents who believe that rural physicians face barriers or opportunities to participating in PQRI were more inclined to participate. Thus, the findings from this research should be considered valid in representing the perspectives of the study participants, but cannot be generalized to fully reflect the broader views and perspectives within each of the states.

#### **Findings**

In this section, we present findings from interviews conducted with representatives of state medical societies and medical practices. Results are organized by the interview objectives:

- Overview of primary care physicians' participation in PQRI;
- Challenges related to PQRI participation;
- Factors that affect rural physicians' participation in PQRI; and
- Recommendations to improve physicians' participation in PQRI.

#### Overview of Primary Care Physicians' Participation in PQRI

The seven medical society representatives answered a series of questions about their memberships' experiences participating in PQRI. Overall, the medical societies did not know how many of their members are participating in PQRI. One representative noted that they have few members who are attempting to participate: "Less than 10%, or 400, of our members are participating in PQRI." Medical society representatives noted that few primary care physicians serving rural communities participate in PQRI. One medical society recently conducted a survey of its membership about PQRI. Of the 197 providers that responded to the survey, about 21% (41) participated in PQRI – and 10 % (4) of those providers indicated that they serve rural communities.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note that the survey was sent to the medical society's entire membership – not exclusively to primary care physicians.

While none of the medical societies discourages its membership from participating in PQRI, only two out of seven medical societies encourage their members to participate in the program. In addition, while the medical societies had differing policies with respect to encouraging or discouraging their members to participate in PQRI, the majority (5 out of 7) medical societies provide information about PQRI to their members. They deliver information to their members via weekly newsletters, information on the society's website (e.g., live presentations, interactive seminars), webinars and calls, and a member hotline.

Medical society representatives knew little about the types of measures that their members were reporting through PQRI. One medical society representative said that some members have reported pulmonary measures related to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Another medical society representative said that their members reported diabetes and cardiac procedures.

Two representatives from medical practices discussed the types of measures their practice has reported. Both individuals said that their practices reported on hemoglobin A1c in type 1 or 2 diabetes mellitus and blood pressure control in diabetics. In addition, one of the medical practices reported on measures for osteoporosis screening and treatment, and screening for fall risk, and the other practice reported on low density lipoprotein control in type 1 or 2 diabetes mellitus.

Two of the medical practices' reporting strategies were similar. One practice chose PQRI measures that are "easy to do and easy to remember" and those that "seemed like they wouldn't make much impact in terms of time with patients." A respondent from this practice said that the lipid parameter and advance directive measures would require too much time to collect, and thus, were not selected. A representative from another medical practice grouped specific diagnoses together and reported on measures that were similar. Explaining the process, the respondent said:

"We selected [measures] because they were grouped to a specific diagnosis. So, therefore, we felt our reporting would be complete because we were reporting all of our diabetics. Functionally, there are very few type 1 diabetics in Medicare; we would report any patient with diabetes, but basically we were aiming at type 2 diabetes. And we knew we would be able to have those measures and get those three measures we needed."

#### Challenges Related to Participation in PQRI

According to respondents, members that participated in PQRI – or were interested in participating in PQRI – contacted their state medical society with questions about participation. Three of the seven medical society representatives had contact with their members about PQRI, and were able to discuss the types of questions that they received. The issues raised by medical societies' memberships can be classified into two areas: 1) challenges with respect to the PQRI reporting process; and 2) challenges with respect to receiving adequate feedback about their participation.

#### Challenges in PQRI Reporting

Medical society representatives noted that their members experienced a number of challenges with regard to reporting. Their members found the PQRI reporting process to be "very complicated."

One medical society representative noted that "there is mass confusion about how to [report]." Another medical society representative noted that "[physicians] don't understand how to [report]." These challenges were echoed by medical society representatives in rural and urban states:

- "Some office managers say they tried [to report data] but it was too complicated. [The medical society receives] lots of complaints about reporting."
- "I think the actual process of reporting, and trying to define the measures that you are planning to report...may have been a challenge for some offices."
- "The process was cumbersome, and we spent a lot of time. Reporting, inaccurate reporting and no way of getting interim reports were big road blocks."
- "Physicians here do not have adequate staff available to learn the rules and look at the measures."
- "People may not have understood how some of these validation processes seemed to work."
- "Using the National Provider Identifier (NPI) is the number two issue because it [determines] whether or not [the provider] applies to PQRI or not."
- "We conducted a survey of our membership, asking open-ended questions about PQRI. Members commented that PQRI is difficult to implement, the bonus is not sufficient, and [the reporting process] presents a bureaucratic burden."

#### Challenges in Receiving Feedback

Medical society representatives also noted that members did not believe they had received adequate feedback about their participation in PQRI. The lack of feedback was a key issue of concern for many respondents and fell into two categories: feedback on whether claims counted as successful PQRI reports, and feedback on summary measures of quality. "Feedback. Doctors would appreciate feedback. Did I do it right? Did I do it wrong? How did I compare to my fellow physicians? In a lot of these quality programs, feedback to physicians is actually valued more than the actual money."

- Medical practice representative

According to CMS, 109,349 professionals and practices submitted measures as part of the 2007 PQRI. <sup>60</sup> A total of 56,772 were eligible professionals who satisfactorily reported and were eligible to receive the incentive payment – a success rate of only 52 percent. This is consistent with feedback that we received from representatives from medical societies and practices who said that CMS frequently did not accept provider reports as valid. One respondent noted: "I don't know any practice in [this state] that has received any money [from PQRI]."

Complaints were widespread among medical practices and medical societies that CMS did not communicate whether practices' reporting was meeting their requirements. Practices expected to receive a Final Feedback Report from CMS about the status of their reporting efforts prior to the calculation of their incentive payments. The report provides information about reporting rates, clinical performance, incentives earned by individual professionals, and a summary on reporting success.<sup>61</sup> Multiple respondents said they did not receive a report until after their incentive payments

were calculated. One respondent noted that the 2007 Final Feedback Report was delayed on two separate occasions. It is unclear whether the Final Feedback Report was supposed to serve as an opportunity for providers to review their reporting status and correct mistakes prior to the calculation of the incentive payments. Regardless, it appears that providers were expecting to receive feedback prior to the calculation of the incentive payment.

Furthermore, providers felt that the Final Feedback Report did not provide adequate information to allow them to correct problems in their future reports to CMS. A medical society respondent noted that physicians were frustrated when they did not receive an incentive payment because they could not identify their reporting mistakes. The representative noted: "That led to a lot of frustration on the part of the physicians who thought they were going to get a bonus, and they didn't because they didn't report correctly... and they have no idea why. To the extent that happened to the people who tried to [participate], that may deter them from further participation."

One practice representative described the experience this way:

"I have been reporting data since January, and in August, I am told that out of 34 opportunities to report, 27 are correct. Therefore, you get no bonus. Nobody is able or willing to tell me which of the 34 are correct and which of the 34 are incorrect. So, I have no way of going to look at a record to find out where my mistake is...I understand that we are not entitled to refute the information; I just want them to tell me what I did wrong... There is no way I am going to participate in [the future]."

One respondent noted that their practice's participation in the program was hampered because they did not receive timely feedback about their reporting. The respondent noted that their practice spent two months trying to get feedback about "what they did wrong" with respect to their reporting; they contacted the regional carrier and a Medicare officer in their city.

Another respondent noted that feedback is particularly important for rural practices because the cost associated with participating in the program is substantial for a rural practice. The representative noted that without adequate feedback, "you can get taken down a path where you are doing something that looks right but is wrong and never get it fixed." The respondent went on to say that the "consequences might be greater in a rural jurisdiction where just by nature of the smaller margins within a rural practice, the investment costs may make this more problematic essentially."

Respondents were not only interested in receiving feedback about why they did or did not receive an incentive payment, but they also wanted more information about the actual measures they are reporting. One medical society respondent noted that feedback to physicians – and the ability it would give to improve practice – is more important than the actual incentive payment:

"Pay-for-reporting is really not helpful in that setting unless the feedback is targeted in some other way... [The report] didn't tell me what I was doing wrong, and I really couldn't understand if there were clinical issues in the data that I reported. I am not saying the data wasn't there, I am just saying that it wasn't the way I could understand...Because what should have

happened is I should have gotten the report that said you reported this, you reported that, you correctly reported this, this percentage was good, this percentage was not...Then, it should have said, your A1c average was such and such, a good A1c is this, refer to this article, refer to that article for information showing a value of good A1c. Number 2, the blood pressures were this on average, your blood pressure average should have been here, refer to this article and the same thing for other measures."

Another respondent noted that the current feedback received is not adequate for physicians to use the data to change their practice patterns.

#### Factors that Affect Rural Physicians' Participation in PQRI

One of the objectives of this study was to explore whether the rurality of a physician's medical practice impacts their participation in PQRI. The literature with respect to P4P and P4R programs in rural medical practices reveals that participation may be challenging for rural providers for a variety of reasons. To investigate these issues, we asked the respondents about the factors that might affect participation for rural physicians. Specifically, we asked respondents to discuss factors related to rurality that make the incentive payment more or less attractive; to identify incentives or disincentives to participating in PQRI that differ for rural practices; and to highlight any challenges or opportunities related to participating in PQRI would be systematically different for rural physicians. Respondents identified the following factors that affect rural physicians' participation in PQRI:

- Practice size, infrastructure, and staff resources
- Incentive payment
- Case mix and volume
- Other factors

Each of these factors is described in detail next.

#### Practice Size, Infrastructure, and Staff Resources

Practice size and, in conjunction, the practice's infrastructure and staff resources were cited by several medical societies as the most important factors that affect a physician's participation in PQRI. Respondents identified key differences between large and small practices: the availability of technology and staff time to prepare for and participate in PQRI.

"I don't think there is any disincentive for a rural practice [compared to] an urban practice. I think it comes down to what is the size of your practice, what is your case mix of Medicare compared to everything else, overall revenue from Medicare, and what kind of overhead staff time you have or you believe you are going to need for proper reporting and for tracking this — and that applies to practices no matter where they are."

- Medical society representative

For some practices, process changes (e.g., modifications to billing systems or computer software, administration changes) were necessary to facilitate participation in PQRI. One of the medical practice representatives provided a succinct overview of the types of process changes made within their practice in order to participate in PQRI. According to this medical practice representative, a variety of players were involved in preparing for PQRI:

"We educated ourselves through practice journals, specifically as to what the requirements were in terms of what we had to report. We then confirmed with our software vendor that they had the ability to send these codes on to Medicare. We then educated our staff that every patient with type 2 diabetes had to have reporting codes attached to the diagnosis. And then we drew up a cheat sheet to explain what the proper codes were to be attached depending upon what the results were. It was the job of the physician to write down the specific results that the billing staff needed to translate into coded information to send on. If the billing staff received a counter form with the diagnosis, with the proper information, it was their job to track down the physician to get the proper information and those were the changes we made."

Given the steps necessary to prepare for PQRI, respondents thought that larger practices were better equipped to participate in P4R programs like PQRI because they have more staff resources and infrastructure such as electronic billing systems and EMRs. For example, a medical society representative noted that larger practices have more standardized billing systems, which may help them in reporting: "A bigger group practice that has more centralized billing and a shared record process probably has a leg up in participating over a small practice that relies on individual claim billing." Additionally, a medical society representative, who is also a PQRI-participating provider, likened a large medical practice to a business: "The large groups with multiple people working in the front office that are running a business – this is nothing for them." Still, one participant noted that participating in PQRI remains a difficult process, even for urban physicians. Specifically, the respondent said that even larger physician groups with more than 10 to 15 physicians, have not found it feasible to participate in PQRI.

'It's just overwhelming for smaller offices. With a one man practice, it's almost impossible to participate in PQRI."

- Medical society representative

In contrast, small practices or solo practitioners were thought to be at a disadvantage with respect to participating in PQRI because they lack the resources, infrastructure, and staff time. Respondents thought that smaller practices might have more difficulty affording the staff time necessary to participate in PQRI. One medical practice representative commented that rural practices would face similar challenges to small office practices, noting that rural practices do not have "enough staff to segregate those duties."

The respondent went on to say that participating in PQRI has been an isolating experience: "In rural areas, it's trying to figure out everything on our own. I am the only one that I know in PQRI, and not very many physicians are participating in my state."

Additionally, the interviews revealed that health care professional shortages make participation in PQRI difficult for both rural and urban physicians. A medical society representative said: "We have a shortage of physicians, so they certainly do not have the time or staff to participate." Another respondent noted that the shortage of health care professionals is an acute problem in urban areas in addition to rural areas: "In urban areas there is a little more participation [in PQRI], but urban practices would still need a dedicated staff person. The incentive payment would not offset the cost of paying for the extra staff."

The theme of infrastructure – especially with regard to EMRs – surfaced in several interviews. Physicians with EHRs, registries, and standardized data collection systems were thought to have lower marginal costs for collecting the data, and thus, an easier time participating in PQRI. Respondents commented that participating in PQRI would be "a lot easier with an EMR" and "not such a burden." However, the cost of the technology – should the practice decide to purchase an EMR or another system – was viewed as a barrier for smaller practices. One medical practice representative mentioned that there is an electronic health record on the market that captures PQRI measures and reports the data. According to the respondent, the cost is \$4,000 for the module and monthly maintenance fees of \$78. Purchasing the system would require \$4,000 up front plus \$1,000 per year to use the system for the purpose of reporting data in PQRI. This medical practice representative saw the cost of the system as an "issue" for a lot of physicians, noting that a practice might "break-even at best" if it received an incentive payment.

Without an EMR or other system, respondents noted that reporting is difficult and cumbersome. Some respondents were concerned that solo practitioners and small group practices may be more ambivalent to invest in these systems and make fundamental changes to their operations, without knowing whether they will receive an incentive payment. A medical society representative commented: "For individual solo rural practitioners, it might be harder if they do not have the technological capability to [report]." A medical practice representative commented that, due to problems with the office's software, the practice had to print forms with the relevant transaction codes; then, the physician needed to circle the appropriate codes on paper. The respondent noted that this process was time consuming. Another medical practice representative noted that their work load increased as a result of their participation in PQRI: "I'm still using paper charts so it would have been too onerous to have the staff go do all of this other stuff. I take the measures that are reported, and do all of the coding for the measures on our billing form."

Respondents commented on the linkage between the size of the practice and rurality of the practice, stating that urban practices tend to be larger, and have more staff and other resources in comparison to rural practices. One respondent noted that practice size is a more important factor affecting physicians' participation in PQRI than whether the practice serves a rural or non-rural population:

"I tried to give some thought to what would make something more difficult in a rural setting and with this program, I can't think of one other than the size of the group. If you are in an urban setting, you have a larger clinic that has billing. They have the staff and know-how to get the data and do this. Small practices, whether they are urban, suburban or rural, do not have the staff and other things necessary to do [PQRI]."

Another medical society representative commented that the size of the practice was regarded by some as a more important factor than the rurality of the practice with regard to reporting in PQRI. In as much as rural practices are likely to be smaller with fewer resources and are less likely to have an EMR, they may face greater challenges when participating in PQRI than their non-rural counterparts.

#### Incentive Payment

The incentive payment was identified as a factor that affects participation in PQRI. In order to receive the PQRI incentive payment, eligible professionals must satisfactorily report data on at least three measures for at least 80 percent of the cases in which the measure was applicable. Eligible professionals provide services paid under or based on the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule. In PQRI, CMS is required to pay an incentive payment equal to 1.5 percent of their allowed charges for covered professionals who satisfactorily report data. The 2007 reporting period is the focus of this study, and lasted from July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007. For the 2007 reporting period, the incentive payments were sent to physicians in July 2008.

In 2007, the average incentive for an individual eligible professional was \$630. The average incentive for a physician group practice was \$4,713. There is no information available on how many eligible professionals were providing care in rural settings, or whether the amount of the incentive payments differed, on average, for rural versus non-rural professionals.

Overall, respondents did not believe that the 1.5% incentive payment is a sufficient incentive to encourage practices to participate in PQRI. Representatives from the three medical practices commented that participating in PQRI required additional resources and staff time to learn how to report. One individual noted that "you have to have more staff to dedicate a lot more time to PQRI reporting" and that the incentive payment "will probably not cover increased staff time." Additionally, another medical practice representative said that the payment was not sufficient to encourage most physicians to participate in PQRI. Finally, the third medical practice representative said that the incentive payment was "not at all" sufficient. This respondent noted that the incentive was not sufficient because of the additional administrative work required to participate. According to the individual, the practice received an incentive payment of \$650, though the administrative and staff costs associated with their participation totaled \$2,000.

None of the medical society representatives commented that the incentive payment was sufficient to encourage practices to participate. One representative from a medical society in a rural state commented that the incentive payment is not large enough to stimulate participation given economic factors: "The economic times aren't good...so the whole economic atmosphere is not conducive, and the 1.5 [percent] is certainly not enough to entice people to participate." The medical society that conducted a survey of its membership found that respondents did not feel it was "worth the time to report at the bonus payment rate." Another medical society representative said: "Physicians feel that [participation] is too much work, and the incentive does not balance out the work involved." These perceptions may have been influenced not only by the 1.5 percent payment rate, but also by the fact that some practices that attempted to report were not paid because their reports were not considered acceptable by CMS.

Not surprisingly, respondents commented that a higher incentive payment would encourage greater participation by physicians. One respondent said that participation could be easily improved by "increasing the nominal amount of the incentive" and another said that "if you make the carrot big enough, that's certainly going to attract more people into the program." In addition, one respondent noted that rural providers actually need a different incentive altogether than urban providers, and

commented, "I'm not sure that this program was geared for rural states." The respondent did not specify what type of incentive would be desirable, however.

Medical society respondents did not feel that the incentive payment – independent of other factors – was more or less attractive to rural physicians in comparison to urban physicians. Rather, these respondents said that the key issues affecting rural physicians' participation in PQRI are case mix, patient volume, practice infrastructure, and other factors that are discussed later.

One medical practice representative conveyed a unique perspective on how the incentive payment affects a rural practice's decision to participate in PQRI. The physician thought that the incentive payment would be a sufficient incentive for very rural practices with high Medicare penetration: "[Rural practices] are stuck; they can't get enough revenue, so they need any measure that would increase their revenue."

Results also suggest that given the increased staff time necessary to participate in PQRI for some practices, physicians who do not receive an incentive payment may not be willing to participate in the next reporting year. One respondent commented: "I know one pulmonologist, a single practitioner, who did participate, but they got nothing out of it and they don't plan to participate again." This finding is also particularly relevant to rural physicians, who many need to invest more time, money, and other resources in order to participate. For example, one medical practice representative said that the office dedicated resources and staff time to participate in PQRI, but did not receive an incentive payment; as a result the practice will not participate again in the future.

Thus, the incentive payment is a factor that affects a physician's participation in PQRI. The incentive payment may be a particularly critical factor for rural physicians with high Medicare penetration rates, as they are encouraged by an opportunity for additional revenue.

#### Case Mix and Volume

Respondents noted that case mix and volume were factors that determined whether a physician participates in PQRI. Compared to their urban colleagues, rural physicians may face competing incentives to participate in PQRI stemming from these factors.

Many rural physician offices have relatively low volumes of patients. This gives them a low margin of error in reporting to CMS. In order to report successfully in PQRI, eligible professionals had to report on at least three quality measures for at least 80 percent of the cases in which the measure was applicable. For a measure that applies to twenty patients, failing to report correctly on just five would disqualify a provider on that measure. In 2007, there was a total of 74 clinical quality measures from which providers could choose. One medical practice representative commented that providers must report more than three measures in order to ensure that at least three measures are reported adequately.

Low volume may also be a disincentive to report. The fixed cost of setting up reporting systems within the office may be spread over a much smaller number of patient visits in a low-volume office. A medical society representative expressed this concern, stating that "a rural state does not have the volume of patients to participate in PQRI." Multiple medical society representatives said that

Medicare volumes need to be high for physicians to invest the time into reporting, because the 1.5 percent incentive needs to be applied to a large payment base to result in a significant amount of money.

At the same time, some rural physician practices see a much higher proportion of Medicare beneficiaries than non-rural practices. One respondent noted that very rural practices with high Medicare penetration are likely to participate because of the opportunity for revenue.

"[For] this particular program, being in a rural area did not affect us at all. In other practices, where it is extremely rural and the Medicare penetration is much higher, [the incentive payment] would have a much bigger impact...the 1.5% would be sufficient to participate for pay-for-reporting. [The incentive] is more likely to be sufficient in rural areas. Medicare and Medicaid proportions are both likely to be higher."

In order to further explore the impact of case mix and volume on participation, respondents were asked what proportion of an average practice's patients would need to be Medicare beneficiaries to make PQRI reporting a worthwhile endeavor. One medical society respondent said that greater than 50% of a practice's patients would need to be Medicare beneficiaries, and that "it does not make sense" for practices serving children to participate. Another medical society representative commented that between 80% and 90% of a practice's patients would need to be Medicare beneficiaries, and as a result, "in rural areas, participation is just not beneficial."

The representatives from medical practices estimated a smaller proportion of Medicare beneficiaries could still make it worthwhile to participate. One medical practice representative said that 50% of their practice is composed of Medicare beneficiaries. The second representative said that the practice would need at least half of its patients to be Medicare beneficiaries. The third representative noted that an average practice would need their proportion of Medicare patients to be between 30% and 35% for the practice to participate and "break even." The fourth medical practice representative said that 20% of patients would need to be Medicare beneficiaries.

One medical society respondent said that rural physicians that have a high Medicaid case mix may also be likely to participate in the program; specifically, providers with a high Medicaid case mix

might look at the PQRI incentive payment as an important opportunity to earn additional income to make up for the lower payments associated with their Medicaid patients. Thus, case mix and volume may be factors that influence a physician's decision to participate in PQRI. For rural providers, however, these factors may have mixed effects.

"If rural practices could get more money for their Medicare patients, then at least it helps to offset the lower income from the high Medicaid mix that a lot of the rural practices have."

- Medical practice representative

#### Other Factors

Two other factors mentioned that affect rural physicians' participation in PQRI are (1) participation in other quality reporting or P4P initiatives in the past, and (2) fear that the PQRI program – now voluntary – will soon become compulsory.

One of the medical society representatives – who is also a participating PQRI – commented that physicians are not used to recording and reporting their data: "Physicians in their offices are not doing statistical analyses on who they see and what they do. This is a very very brand new concept. It's not going to happen overnight. That is a major impediment to any of these programs." Thus, there is a concern that physicians – and especially physicians in rural areas – may not be likely to report their data in a new way. A medical society respondent also commented that rural physicians may be less likely to participate in "a new initiative" like PQRI because their staff "are set in their ways and not open to new challenges such as this one."

In contrast, one medical society representative from a rural state said that PQRI fits into the other quality initiatives and the quality improvement culture of that state. Initiatives described were those that focus on the expansion of EMRs, the coordination of care for individuals with chronic diseases, and the adoption of health information technology in primary care offices. In describing these programs, the respondent noted: "There are other reasons why the physicians are already looking at these types of issues. So, PQRI [is] maybe one way of fitting into that."

Another factor that has affected physicians' decisions to participate is the fear that PQRI will eventually become a compulsory program. Medical society and medical practice representatives noted that this concern has prompted some providers to participate in PQRI. When asked about their motivation for participating in PQRI, one of the medical practice representatives said:

"It seemed fairly clear that in the future CMS would make this mandatory, and [we] just thought it was good to get experience doing this before there is a mandatory deadline for participation. And at least this way, although the incentive is not very much, there is not a disincentive for not participating that has been published."

While worth mentioning, there was not evidence to suggest that rural practices were more likely to have this concern than non-rural physicians. As of the April 2009 iteration of the PQRI program, participation in PQRI is still voluntary.

#### Recommendations to Improve Participation in PQRI

In December 2009, CMS released a report on the 2007 PQRI reporting experience.<sup>62</sup> The report identified unanticipated issues that affected providers' reporting experiences, and potential remedies for the future. Issues discussed in the report included incorrect quality reporting data, claims submission errors, and the content of the feedback reports, among others. In an effort to increase interest and participation among providers, CMS is implementing lessons learned from the 2007 PQRI, such as developing a more provider-focused education campaign, changing the analysis of claims-based submissions, and increasing the use of registries. The report, however, does not comment on rural providers' experiences, specifically.

A number of salient recommendations emerged from the key informant interviews, and many echo the findings of CMS's review. These recommendations ranged from improving education about the PQRI reporting process to implementing a more structured feedback mechanism for providers.

More Education for Practices and Office Personnel. Medical society respondents identified a lack of education for practices as a key challenge to improving participation in PQRI. According to respondents, the reporting process is not "simple enough" and physicians want a "step-by-step process" to follow. One of the medical society representatives commented that the society provides education in the form of online seminars. However, members who have participated in PQRI want greater access to a CMS representative to voice their questions or concerns. A medical society commented that educational pamphlets are not sufficient. Rather, a more active learning environment is desired:

"We will need a lot more education to make it successful – and not just audio conferences. Trying to read all of the information on the CMS website is near impossible. I've been in management for 30 years, and if I had tried to participate, I would have been so discouraged. I probably wouldn't participate. Information is not presented in manner where office personnel can follow steps. If CMS wants this to be successful... They will need a lot more education – having seminars where a representative of CMS is on site, and participants can come to a meeting and sit down and hear it, see it, and can ask questions, referencing written information."

In-person meeting opportunities for participating PQRI professionals were also identified as a preferable means of education. One medical society representative said that providers do not understand how to participate, and that "CMS webinars" did not provide them with enough information. Respondents also noted that PQRI participants would prefer a meeting whether they could ask questions.

Understanding the Measures and Physician Performance. A medical society representative noted that members should be able to learn more about why certain measures were selected for inclusion into PQRI, and how the measures were derived. According to a medical practice representative, more information about PQRI would serve as a key incentive:

"There are clear cut derivations, but most physicians don't know where these things were coming from. Why are they selected? Who decided that these were good measures to use? We need ongoing education on this for physicians. Most physicians – if they were given insight into how the measures were derived and they were given access to this information – [would find the information] tremendously helpful. They don't have the background. This would be a very important incentive."

Respondents also recommended more feedback on physician performance based on the measures, as well as a place for the provider to go for more information on practice guidelines or other tools for improving performance.

A Simplified Reporting Process. Respondents recommended a simplification of the reporting process. Specifically, one respondent noted that physicians should receive the reporting instructions in a textbook format with examples, similar to materials currently available for other Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) Codes. The preference was also to receive the information via mail.

The respondent noted that they had to struggle to find the correct CPT 2 Codes on the Internet: "I have to struggle to find the [codes] – I have to go to websites, whereas right now most doctors have these books that come in the mail. They should be an attachment or part of that book that says these are for PQRI, or even [provides] examples." One medical practice representative noted that the registration process and security policies were also difficult to navigate.

Feedback Mechanism on Whether Reports are Acceptable. Interim feedback for physicians about how well they are reporting is critical, and was cited as an important issue in several key informant interviews. Recommendations to improve the feedback provided are that the feedback report should be timely and specific. Some respondents also eluded that they wanted an interim report so that they could correct problems and still qualify for incentive payments at the end of the year. One medical society representative commented that they receive complaints from their members about trying to access the PQRI website to view their feedback reports. As one respondent put it: "I had to jump through hoops that you couldn't believe. And I finally get the hoop, and there is not enough information in the report for me to do any constructive changes in my office."

An Opportunity to Appeal Final Decisions. Some respondents believed that providers should have an opportunity to challenge the determination of whether they reported successfully. As of 2009, there was no appeals process. One medical society representative commented that the implementation of an appeals mechanism to challenge whether reporting was successful will remove a key barrier from participation:

"If somebody can demonstrate that they have...provided that data but it may not have captured it properly, there ought to be an appeal process by which they can say, 'I have done this, give me the credit for doing this.'...If you have a mechanism and provide an interactive feedback, you certainly take a barrier from people to participate."

While the respondent did not believe that an appeals process would encourage practices to participate, they did suggest that the mechanism would remove an objection to participate.

#### IV. Study Conclusions

This study explored the implications of PQRI for rural primary care physicians. Given that PQRI is CMS' first nationwide initiative that provides incentives to encourage reporting of quality data by physicians, we used this program as a proxy to explore the implications of P4P and P4R programs for rural primary care physicians, more generally. PQRI is designed as a P4R program, whereby eligible professionals may receive an incentive payment for reporting on specific quality measures for a percentage of their patients, though they need not demonstrate improvements in outcomes for those measures.

The purpose of this research was to explore the design and implementation of Medicare's PQRI program, in order to assess whether there are any unique opportunities or challenges related to participating in PQRI that would be systematically different for rural versus urban primary care physicians. The conclusions for this study are based on the literature review and feedback from ten representatives from state medical societies and medical practices. This study was conducted prior to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010's new PQRI provisions. Therefore, further research is necessary to assess rural physicians' experiences in light of programmatic changes.

Conclusion 1: Rural practices may be at a disadvantage with respect to participating in PQRI – not necessarily because of their geographic location, but because they tend to be smaller practices that have fewer resources and a less developed quality measurement infrastructure.

The key informant interviews revealed that factors such as practice size, resources, practice infrastructure, and case mix, among others, could present challenges related to participation – regardless of the rurality of the practice. For example, a practice without an EMR (rural or urban) may find it challenging to participate in PQRI. Similarly, practices with a low Medicare case mix may not find it worthwhile to participate, while practices with a high volume of Medicare patients may see the 1.5% payment as a sufficient incentive. That being said, in as much as rural practices are likely to be smaller with fewer resources and a less developed quality measurement infrastructure, they may face greater challenges when participating in PQRI than their non-rural counterparts.

Conclusion 2: The 1.5% incentive payment was widely considered insufficient to incentivize primary care physicians to participate in PQRI if they did not have staff and systems to support quality reporting.

Generally, respondents participating in PQRI required additional resources and staff time to learn how to report. None of the medical society representatives commented that the incentive payment was sufficient to encourage practices to participate. A theme that surfaced was that a higher incentive payment would encourage greater participation by physicians, especially those with a significant proportion of Medicare patients.

This conclusion suggests that the incentive payment is benefiting practices that are already well-resourced, and potentially need it the least. Practices that have staff dedicated to quality improvement and systems to support quality reporting can participate in PQRI with minimal burden. Conversely, as we heard in the key informant interviews, practices that do not have quality

measurement infrastructure or available staff do not participate in PQRI because the costs exceed the value of the incentive payment. To the extent that the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 encourages practices to adopt EMRs and other forms of health information technology, this could be less of a problem in the future.

### Conclusion 3: Rural practices that did not receive the incentive payment and/or did not receive adequate feedback may be less likely to participate in PQRI in the future.

Respondents provided a number of recommendations to improve physicians' participation in PQRI. Specifically, respondents noted that more feedback is essential for PQRI participants to learn from the reporting process. Medical society representatives noted that members did not believe they had received adequate feedback about their participation in PQRI. The lack of feedback was a key issue of concern for many respondents. Given that it is likely a greater burden for some rural physicians to participate in PQRI than their urban counterparts, rural physicians may be less likely to participate in PQRI in the future if they do not receive adequate feedback. Additionally, physicians that do not receive an incentive payment may be less likely to participate in the future. For example, a representative from a rural medical practice that did not receive a bonus payment – and did not feel that adequate feedback was provided – does not intend to participate in PQRI in the future. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 created a provision for timely feedback to physicians that have not satisfactorily reported quality data. Further research is necessary to assess physicians' experiences soliciting feedback on their quality data.

# Conclusion 4: Medical societies are engaging with their memberships about PQRI on a limited basis, but could potentially serve as a useful mechanism to disseminate educational information about PQRI to their memberships.

Medical societies are engaging with their members about PQRI, albeit on a limited basis. Most of the medical societies interviewed do not collect data on whether their members participate in PQRI. Additionally, the medical society representatives did not know about the types of measures that their members report to PQRI. Medical societies, however, were identified as an important resource for professionals participating in PQRI. The interviews revealed that many societies provide information about PQRI to their members via the web and newsletters. In the future, medical societies may be able to disseminate additional resources to their memberships about PQRI and other P4P and P4R initiatives.

## Conclusion 5: Further research should investigate the results of the PQRI program for rural primary care physicians, specifically.

The literature review did not identify any research that has quantified rural providers' participation in PQRI. No data is publicly available on the number of rural providers who participated in PQRI in 2007 or in subsequent years. Quantitative analyses of PQRI data over the program's history should explore whether there are statistically significant rural-urban differences in primary care physicians' participation in PQRI, reporting rates, types of measures reported, and incentive amount received. Findings from a more detailed analysis of rural primary care physicians' experiences in PQRI could inform the design and implementation of future CMS P4P and P4R programs, and potentially help to mitigate unintended program consequences for rural providers.

#### **Endnotes**

\_\_\_

<a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/Downloads/PQRITaxReliefHealthCareAct.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/Downloads/PQRITaxReliefHealthCareAct.pdf</a>.

<a href="http://questions.cms.hhs.gov/cgi-">http://questions.cms.hhs.gov/cgi-</a>

bin/cmshhs.cfg/php/enduser/std\_adp.php?p\_faqid=8473&p\_created=1181563308>

<a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/33\_2007\_PQRI\_Program.asp#TopOfPage">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/33\_2007\_PQRI\_Program.asp#TopOfPage</a>.

<a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/Downloads/PQRI2007ReportExperience.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/PQRI/Downloads/PQRI2007ReportExperience.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Institute of Medicine, Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century (Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Young GJ et al., "Effects of Paying Physicians Based on their Relative Performance for Quality," *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2007(22), no. 6: 872-876.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wilensky GR, "Pay for Performance and Physicians – an Open Question," *Healthcare Financial Management* 2007(61), no. 2: 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> United States 109th Congress. H.R. 6111, The Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 (TRHCA) [introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives; 19 September 2006]. 109th Cong. Congressional Bills, GPO Access. Web.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "Why Should I Participate in the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative (PQRI)?" Questions and Answers, 2007, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, (30 April 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "2007 Physician Quality Reporting Initiative Quality Measures," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, (10 April 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Physician Quality Reporting Initiative: 2007 Reporting Experience," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 3 December 2008, (30 April 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "Physician Quality Reporting Initiative: 2007 Reporting Experience," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008 (14 July 2008) <a href="http://www.cms.gov/PQRI/downloads/PQRI2007ReportFinal12032008CSG.pdf">http://www.cms.gov/PQRI/downloads/PQRI2007ReportFinal12032008CSG.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> H.R. 3590--111th Congress: Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 2010. Section 3002. U.S. Government Printing Office, (27 July 2010) <a href="http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ148/pdf/PLAW-111publ148.pdf">http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ148.pdf</a>>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Wilensky, 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "The Implementation of Pay-for-Performance in Rural Hospitals: Lessons from the Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration Project." *Upper Midwest Rural Health Research Center*, 2006, (30 April 2008) <ttp://www.uppermidwestrhrc.org/pdf/policybrief\_p4p.pdf>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Wilensky, 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Young, 872.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> "Pay for Performance: National Perspective, 2006 Longitudinal Survey Results with 2007 Market Update," Med-Vantage and the Leapfrog Group, December 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Strategies To Support Quality-based Purchasing: A Review of the Evidence, Structured Abstract. July 2004. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD.

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/qpurchtp.htm">http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/qpurchtp.htm</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Reece RL, "Pay for Performance Raises Questions," *Diabetes Practice Options*, February 2007, (30 April 2008) <a href="http://www.diabetesoptions.net/common/pdfs/DO0207.pdf">http://www.diabetesoptions.net/common/pdfs/DO0207.pdf</a>>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Bell K, "Pay for Performance: Physician Office," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 24 June 2005, (9 April 2009) <a href="http://www.psava.com/phc2005/presentations/Bell309F\_1.pdf">http://www.psava.com/phc2005/presentations/Bell309F\_1.pdf</a>

<a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/MMA649\_DesignReport.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/MMA649\_DesignReport.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Llanos K and Rothstein J, "Physician Pay-for-Performance in Medicaid: A Guide for States," Center for Health Care Strategies, Inc. March 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> "Physician Voluntary Reporting Program," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 28 October 2005, (30 April 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/press/release.asp?Counter=1701">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/press/release.asp?Counter=1701</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Institute of Medicine, Committee on Redesigning Health Insurance to Congressional Mandates. *Performance Measurement: Accelerating Improvement.* (Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> "Health Care Reform: Addressing the Needs of Rural Minnesotans," Rural Health Advisory Committee, Work Group on Health Reform, Minnesota Department of Health, October 2007, (9 April 2009) <a href="http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/orhpc/pubs/hcreform.pdf">http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/orhpc/pubs/hcreform.pdf</a>>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Coburn AF et al., "CMS Value-Based Purchasing Program and Critical Access Hospitals," Rural Policy Research Institute Health Panel, January 2009, (9 April 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.rupri.org/Forms/CAH\_VBP\_Final.pdf">http://www.rupri.org/Forms/CAH\_VBP\_Final.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> "Medicare Physician Group Practice Demonstration: Physicians Groups Continue to Improve Quality and Generate Savings Under Medicare Physician Pay for Performance Demonstration," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 28 August 2008, (9 April 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/PGP\_Fact\_Sheet.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/PGP\_Fact\_Sheet.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Wilkin JC et al., "Medicare Care Management Demonstration: Design Report," Actuarial Research Corporation, submitted to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, January 5, 2007, (9 April 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> "Physician Group Practice Demonstration Quality Measurement and Reporting Specifications, Version 2," RTI International and the Iowa Foundation for Medical Care, prepared for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [Contract No. 500-00-0024, T.O. No. 13.] 29 July 2005, (9 April 2009) <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/Quality\_Specs\_Report.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/DemoProjectsEvalRpts/downloads/Quality\_Specs\_Report.pdf</a> Super N, "Medicare's Chronic Care Improvement Pilot Program: What Is Its Potential?" *National* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Super N, "Medicare's Chronic Care Improvement Pilot Program: What Is Its Potential?" *Nationa Health Policy Forum*, no. 797, May 10, 2004, (9 April 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.nhpf.org/pdfs\_ib/IB797\_ChronicCare.pdf">http://www.nhpf.org/pdfs\_ib/IB797\_ChronicCare.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> "Physician Voluntary Reporting Program Using Quality G-Codes," *Medlearn Matters*, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2 November 2005, (10 September 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.foma.org/assets/G-Codes4183.pdf">http://www.foma.org/assets/G-Codes4183.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Physician Quality Reporting Initiative. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S.

Department of Health and Human Services, (9 April 2009) <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pqri/">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pqri/</a> E-Prescribing Incentive Program Overview. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S.

Department of Health and Human Services, (27 July 2010) <a href="http://www.cms.gov/ERxIncentive">http://www.cms.gov/ERxIncentive</a> Locke RG and Srinivasan M, "Attitudes Toward Pay-for-Performance Initiatives Among Primary Care Osteopathic Physicians in Small Group Practices," *Journal of the American Osteopathic Association* 108, no.1 (2008): 21-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Landon BE and Normand SLT, "Performance Measurement in Small Office Practice: Challenges and Potential Solutions, *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2008 (148): 353-357.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> DerGurahian J, "Money Not Main Motivator for PQRI Test Participant," *Modern Healthcare*, 27 May 2008.

<sup>33</sup> Burt CW, Hing E, Woodwell D, "Electronic Medical Record Use by Office Based Physicians: United States, 2005," (Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, 2006), (25 April 2008) <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/pubs/pubd/hestats/electronic/electronic.htm">http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/pubs/pubd/hestats/electronic/electronic.htm</a>

<sup>34</sup> Menachemi N, Langley A, Brooks RG, "The Use of Information Technologies Among Rural and Urban Physicians in Florida," *J Med Syst* 2007 (31): 483-488.

http://www.springerlink.com.proxy.uchicago.edu/content/v546852h26122201/fulltext.pdf

- <sup>35</sup> Burke D, Wang B, Wan T and Diana M, "Exploring Hospitals' Adoption of Information Technology," *Journal of Medical Systems* 2002 (26), no.4: 349–355, 2002.
- <sup>36</sup> Brooks R, Menachemi N, Burke D, and Clawson A, "Rural–Urban Difference in Patient Safety-Related Information Technology Utilization," *Journal of Medical Systems* 2005 (29), no. 2: 103–109.
- <sup>37</sup> Calico F, Dillard C, Moscovice I, Wakefield M, "A Framework and Action Agenda for Quality Improvement in Rural Health Care," *J. Rural Health* 2003 (19), no. 3: 226–232.
- <sup>38</sup> Casalino LP, Devers KJ, Lake TK, Reed M, Stoddard JJ, "Benefits of and Barriers to Large Medical Group Practice in the United States," *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2003 (163): 1958-64.
- <sup>39</sup> Report to the Congress: Medicare in Rural America, 2001, The Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, (30 March 2009) <a href="http://medpac.gov/documents/Jun01%20Entire%20report.pdf">http://medpac.gov/documents/Jun01%20Entire%20report.pdf</a>>
- <sup>40</sup> Stinson P, "The PQRI Catch-22: the CMS 1.5 Percent Reimbursement May Incentivize IT Adoption, But Will it Do So Equally, and is it Enough?" *Health Management Technology* 2008, (30 March 2009) <a href="http://www.allbusiness.com/insurance/health-insurance-government-health-medicare/5504694-1.html">http://www.allbusiness.com/insurance/health-insurance-government-health-medicare/5504694-1.html</a>>
- <sup>41</sup> Report to the Congress: Medicare in Rural America, 20.
- <sup>42</sup> Hood RG, "Pay-for-Performance Financial Health Disparities and the Impact on Healthcare Disparities," *Journal of the National Medical Association* 2007 (99), no. 8: 1-6.
- <sup>43</sup> Casalino LP, Alexander GC, Jin L, Kotenzka RT, "General Internists' View on Pay-for-Performance and Public Reporting of Quality Scores: A National Survey," *Health Affairs* 2007(26), no. 2: 492-499.
- <sup>44</sup> Reschovsky JD, Staiti A, "Physician Incomes in Rural and Urban America," Center for Studying Health Systems Change, Inc., January 2005.
- <sup>45</sup> Reschovsky JD, Staiti A, "Access and Quality: Does Rural America Lag Behind?" *Health Affairs* 2005(24), no. 4: 1128-1139.
- <sup>46</sup> Designing and Implementing Medicaid Disease and Care Management Programs: A User's Guide. AHRQ Publication No. 07(08)-0063, March 2008, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD.
- <sup>47</sup> Pay for Performance: A Decision Guide for Purchasers. April 2006. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. (10 April 2009) <a href="http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/p4pguide.htm">http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/p4pguide.htm</a>
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Ibid.
- <sup>51</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>52</sup> Wilensky, 40.
- <sup>53</sup> Stinson, 1.
- <sup>54</sup> Epstein AM et al., "Paying Physicians for High-Quality Care," *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2004 (350), no. 4: 306-310.
- <sup>55</sup> Reece, 3.

<sup>56</sup> Coburn et al., 1.

<a href="http://www.cato.org/pubs/papers/cannon\_p4p.pdf">http://www.cato.org/pubs/papers/cannon\_p4p.pdf</a>

<a href="http://www.facs.org/ahp/pqri/pdfs/payment\_fact\_sheet.pdf">http://www.facs.org/ahp/pqri/pdfs/payment\_fact\_sheet.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Reece, 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Cannon MF, "Pay for Performance: Is Medicare a Good Candidate," *Yale Journal of Law, Health Policy, and Ethics* December 2006, (11 December 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Landon and Normand, 353.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> "Physician Quality Reporting Initiative: 2007 Reporting Experience," 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> "PQRI Makes Payments for the 2007 Reporting Period," Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 15 July 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> "Physician Quality Reporting Initiative: 2007 Reporting Experience," 1.